
 ST. JOHN BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS - JUNE 25, 2008 

 ST. JOHN MUNICIPAL BUILDING 

 10955 WEST 93
RD
 AVENUE 

 

 

 1 

Board of Zoning Appeals:     Staff: 
Jim Maciejewski      Attorney Tim Kuiper 
Ken Schneider 
Joe Wachowski 
Peter Monix 
Dan Morang                  
 
 
CALL TO ORDER: 

 

The Board of Zoning Appeal meeting of June 25, , 2008, was called to order by 
Chairman Jim Maciejewski at 7:15 p.m.  Jim Maciejewski, Ken Schneider, Peter Monix 
and Joe Wachowski were present.  Dan Morang was absent.  Attorney Tim Kuiper was 
also present. 

 
 (The Pledge of Allegiance was said.) 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 

 

There were no additions, corrections or deletions made to the minutes of the 
May 28, meeting.  Joe Wachowski made a motion to approve the minutes of May 28, as 
circulated.  Peter Monix seconded the motion.  The motion was unanimously carried by 
voice vote (4/). There was no discussion.   
 

NEW BUSINESS: 

 

A. LAKE FEDERAL SAVINGS - 10865 PARRISH AVENUE  
DEVELOPMENTAL TECHNICAL ORDINANCE 1271 
SECTION F -  PARAGRAPH 2 - ELECTRONIC READER  
BOARDS 

 
Gerald Skrabala, President of Lake Federal Bank was present along with Larry 

Yurko of Landmark Signs.  The Petitioner was before the Board seeking approval of a 
variance for an LED sign.   

Gerald Skrabala stated to the Board that Lake Federal Bank is celebrating its 
51
st
 year serving communities throughout Lake County and other communities in 

Indiana and Illinois.  He stated there are bank locations in Hammond and Highland.  He 
stated the bank’s total assets are approximately 70 million dollars.  The new bank in St. 
John would be located at the corner of Route 231, 109

th
 Avenue and Parrish Avenue 

adjacent to the Gates of St. John.  He stated the bank is a mutually, federally chartered 



 ST. JOHN BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS - JUNE 25, 2008 

 ST. JOHN MUNICIPAL BUILDING 

 10955 WEST 93
RD
 AVENUE 

 

 

 2 

savings bank.  The bank services include 1/4 family residential lending.   
Gerald Skrabala stated the bank is a portfolio lender which means that the bank 

does not sell their originated loans in the secondary market.  All of the bank’s lending 
decisions are made locally and all of the bank’s loans are serviced locally.  He further 
stated that the bank’s staffing and directors are from within the communities.   

Mr. Skrabala stated the bank is presenting their proposed signage for the St. 
John location to include a monument sign, building signage, and enter/exit directional 
signage.  The bank will offer drive-up banking, a 24 hour automated teller machine, and 
safe deposit boxes.  Gerald Skrabala stated that the bank looks forward to being a 
good, corporate tax paying business in the Town of St. John.  He stated the bank relies 
heavily on offering residential mortgage loans, particularly to the residents of St. John.   

Mr. Skrabala stated Lake Federal Bank is a local, community bank that has to 
compete with much larger regional banks that have huge advertising budgets.  Mr. 
Skrabala stated that is exactly why the bank is attempting to extend their resources as 
economically as possible.   

Mr. Skrabala stated the bank surveyed the Small Business Association and their 
national trade association, American Community Bankers.  He stated that the surveys 
of the two entities he mentioned reveal that the LED signs that the Petitioner is 
requesting serve to enhance the business using it and typically help increase business 
from 15 to 100 percent from potential customers seeing  the message center.  Mr. 
Skrabala stated according to the SBA LED signs cost less than 15 cents per 1000 
exposures to operate, less than yellow pages, radio and newspaper advertising.  He 
informed the Board that the SBA claims that an LED sign almost immediately becomes 
a landmark in its community.  He stated that potential viewing customers look forward to 
new messages and may even rely on a business with an LED sign for public service 
information, civil event information, personal and holiday greetings and current time and 
temperature.  He stated for all of these reasons, it makes potential customers 
remember the business and where it is located. 

Mr. Skrabala stated the LED sign would not have any flashing or scrolling 
messages shown at any time.  He stated that the Town of St. John placed an LED sign 
for community information purposes on 93

rd
 Avenue.  He stated, with this in mind, the 

Petitioner would appreciate the Board’s consideration and approval of an LED message 
sign that would assist Lake Federal Bank.  

Mr. Skrabala stated that the size of the sign had been changed.  He stated the 
size of the sign was reduced substantially.  Mr. Maciejewski stated he did not note any 
change in the size of the signage.  Mr. Yurko stated that originally the Petitioner had 
three proposed building signs.  Mr. Maciejewski stated that there were no proposed 
building signs at the last meeting.  The Board stated that at the last meeting they were 
not presented with the entire signage package. 
 
 (General discussion ensued.) 



 ST. JOHN BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS - JUNE 25, 2008 

 ST. JOHN MUNICIPAL BUILDING 

 10955 WEST 93
RD
 AVENUE 

 

 

 3 

 
Mr. Yurko stated that Martin’s corner will no longer be identified on the ground 

sign.  The sign would to used exclusively by Lake Federal Bank.  Mr. Skrabala stated 
that St. Anthony has withdrawn their request to be included on the signage.  Again, Mr. 
Maciejewski stated the size of the sign remains the same.  Mr. Yurko stated the square 
footage is 48 square feet; he stated the Town’s code allows for 50 square feet if it was 
for multiple use.  He stated an individual user is allowed 30 square feet pursuant to the 
Town’s code.  He stated if the Board eliminated the LED sign the square footage is less 
and complies with the code.  Mr. Yurko also noted the sign also meets the requirement 
for 10 foot of overall height. 

Mr. Maciejewski asked if the message center was being eliminated.  Mr. Yurko 
stated if the signage was approved without the message center then the bank would 
have less square footage than what is allowable pursuant to the Town’s code, based 
upon the design presented to the Board. 
 
 (General discussion ensued.) 
 

Mr. Maciejewski asked what the proposed overall square footage would be.  Mr. 
Yurko stated it would be 48 square feet.  Mr. Maciejewski asked how the square 
footage was being calculated.  Mr. Yurko stated it was calculated by squaring off the 
copy area. 
 
 (General discussion ensued.) 
 

Mr. Maciejewski stated nothing had been changed or reduced.  He stated it was 
the same size sign as was previously presented.  Mr. Yurko agreed.  Mr. Maciejewski 
asked if there was any attempt made to consider a smaller sign.  Mr. Yurko stated with 
the set back and traffic speed reducing the signage would cause vehicular problems as 
reading the sign would be difficult. 
 
 (General discussion ensued.) 

Mr. Maciejewski asked about the LED sign.  Mr. Yurko stated the messages 
would appear and disappear.  Mr. Maciejewski asked what would be the purpose of the 
LED board if the message was too small or borderline.  Mr. Maciejewski asked if 9 1/8 
were marginal already, and the LED sign was going to be half that size what purpose 
would it serve.  Mr. Yurko stated the plan submitted was just for interpretation purposes. 
  

Mr. Maciejewski asked what would be on the sign.  Mr. Skrabala stated the sign 
would include market rates, certificate rates and community messages.  Mr. 
Maciejewski asked what size the lettering would be.  Mr. Yurko stated it would depend 
on what the message would be and he would not be able to provide that information 



 ST. JOHN BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS - JUNE 25, 2008 

 ST. JOHN MUNICIPAL BUILDING 

 10955 WEST 93
RD
 AVENUE 

 

 

 4 

without knowing what was going to be put on the sign.   
 
 (General discussion ensued.) 
 

Mr. Maciejewski stated if the bank’s concern was size reduction and the bank 
was concerned with people being able to read the sign what was the point of having the 
sign at all.   
 
 (Unidentified individual spoke.) 
 

Mr. Maciejewski told him he was not the Petitioner.  Mr. Maciejewski again stated 
he had asked the Petitioner if the sign could be reduced in size; he stated, his 
understanding was that the Petitioner stated its concern with the 9 1/8 inch lettering 
stating it could not be reduced due to the speed of vehicular traffic and their inability to 
read the sign.   
 
 (General discussion ensued.) 
 

Mr. Maciejewski asked how the sign would be operated.  Mr. Yurko stated it 
could be operated in many modes such as single, double or triple line mode.  He stated 
the LED sign could even be operated in five or six line mode.  He stated it would be 
operated so that it’s visible and readable.   
 
 (General discussion ensued.) 
 

Mr. Maciejewski stated he was trying to comprehend why the size of the sign 
could not be reduced.  He stated it appeared to him that if 9 1/8 inch was going to be 
the size of the lettering then it seemed to be hypocritical to him that the bank would 
have a multi-line digital board with the potential to display four or more lines of text. 
 
 (General discussion ensued.) 
 

Mr. Maciejewski stated that the original sign proposal had letters that were 1 ½ 
inches tall, which was acceptable to the bank.  Mr. Skrabala stated it was acceptable 
when it was going to be shared with St. Anthony.  Mr. Yurko stated that he believed that 
was the reason why the Petitioner was present on this evening, because the Town’s 
code would not allow the bank to effectively communicate and advertise.  He stated the 
Petitioner was seeking just a little bit more than what the Town’s code allows. 
 
 (General discussion ensued.) 
 



 ST. JOHN BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS - JUNE 25, 2008 

 ST. JOHN MUNICIPAL BUILDING 

 10955 WEST 93
RD
 AVENUE 

 

 

 5 

Ken Schneider stated that there are many banks that are located in Town who 
have existed for years without this type of advertising and they seem to have survived.  
He stated using his calculations he comes up with a sign of roughly 76 square feet with 
the reader board on it. 
 
 (General discussion ensued.) 
 

Mr. Schneider stated he eliminated the base as that is not included in the 
calculations.  Mr. Yurko stated that the actual logo is 3'1" tall.   
 
 (General discussion ensued.) 
 

Mr. Maciejewski asked how large the wall sign would be.  Mr. Yurko stated it 
would be 29.648 square feet and appears in one face.  Mr. Monix asked where the 
ground sign would be located.  Mr. Yurko informed him it would be on the northeast 
corner of Parrish and Route 231 intersection.  Mr. Maciejewski asked if there was a site 
plan reflecting where the directional signage would be located.  Mr. Yurko stated there 
were no plans for this signage at the present time. 
 
 (General discussion ensued.) 
 

Mr. Schneider asked if the Lake Federal sign would be on the end of the drive-
thru.   
Mr. Skrabala stated this sign would appear on the southwest side of the building; he 
submitted pictures to the Board for their perusal. 
 (General discussion ensued.) 
 

Mr. Maciejewski asked if the size of the directional signs were in excess of the 
Town’s code.  Mr. Yurko stated not from a copy standpoint.  Mr. Maciejewski asked 
what the area of the copy was.  Mr. Yurko stated it would be two square feet.  He stated 
at two square feet the copy is still quite small. He stated the size of the sign is 2x4. 

Mr. Skrabala informed the Board that the bank also owns Lot 9.  He stated when 
coming off of Parrish on to Poplar, Lot 9 has to be crossed to get into the bank.  Mr. 
Skrabala asked the Board since the bank owns Lot 9, whether they would consider 
allowing them to place directional signage on this lot at a future date, with the 
understanding that the bank is only allowed two directional signs.  Mr. Maciejewski 
asked if the bank anticipated another building on Lot 9.  Mr. Skrabala stated there were 
no plans for a building on Lot 9 at the present time. 
 
 (General discussion ensued.) 
 



 ST. JOHN BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS - JUNE 25, 2008 

 ST. JOHN MUNICIPAL BUILDING 

 10955 WEST 93
RD
 AVENUE 

 

 

 6 

Mr. Maciejewski stated that the request was basically written for an LED sign.  
He stated the Board would potentially have to consider additional directional signs.  
Attorney Kuiper stated that as long as the directional signs comply with the ordinance, 
the Board would not have to consider them additionally.  Mr. Maciejewski asked 
whether two additional signs could be placed on Lot 9.  Attorney Kuiper stated that 
while he did not have his code book he believed two directional signs were allowed on a 
zoning lot.  Attorney Kuiper stated he would check his code book to be sure. 
 
 (General discussion ensued.) 
 

The Board had no issue with the building signage.  The monument sign was 
addressed.  Mr. Maciejewski stated he has a general objection to the size of the 
monument sign and the reader board.  Mr. Maciejewski stated he concurred with Mr. 
Schneider’s assessment in that he did not believe that it was a necessity for the 
operation of the bank.  Mr. Maciejewski stated he had not heard a hardship from the 
bank that they would not be able to survive without it.  He stated if the bank did not 
have the reader board then the sign would be in compliance. 

The Board had no issue with the directional signs.  Mr. Maciejewski opened the 
floor for public hearing.  Attorney Kuiper stated that the public hearing had been 
properly continued from the last meeting.   
 PUBLIC HEARING 
Tom Schmitt, 3414 41

st
 Street, Highland, Indiana - Mr. Schmitt stated he was chairman 

of Lake Federal Bank and he resides in Highland.  He stated that the reason the bank 
“was asking for a hardship” is a community bank invests their money in the community. 
 He stated the bank’s money is not being sent to Canada, New York or any other states. 
 He stated Lake Federal Bank is competing against billion dollar banks and huge 
conglomerates that take money from communities and send it elsewhere.  He stated 
they may spend some money in the community but they do not spend what they take in 
the community.  He stated Lake Federal Bank does spend and keep their monies in the 
community.  He stated that this does create a hardship and the bank is seeking a level 
playing field.   

He stated from the bank’s perspective, the hardship is trying to do a good job 
with their size and they’re looking to maximize their advertising dollars and spend the 
money locally.  He stated he believes the bank is good for St. John, a clean, good 
business with a good tax return for St. John. 

Mr. Maciejewski called for additional public comment.  There was no additional 
comment from the floor.  Mr. Maciejewski closed the public hearing and brought the 
matter back before the Board.   

Mr. Maciejewski asked Mr. Schmitt if all of the other Lake Federal Banks have 
LED signs.  Mr. Skrabala stated there is an LED sign at the main branch in Hammond.  
He stated Highland did not allow a message sign.  Mr. Maciejewski asked how the 



 ST. JOHN BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS - JUNE 25, 2008 

 ST. JOHN MUNICIPAL BUILDING 

 10955 WEST 93
RD
 AVENUE 

 

 

 7 

Highland branch performed without an LED sign.  Mr. Schmitt stated it does not do as 
well as it could.  He stated the reason there is no LED sign at the Highland branch is 
due to its being governed by the operating easement agreement for the shopping 
center where the bank is located. 
 
 (General discussion ensued.) 
 

Mr. Schneider stated he was in agreement with Chairman Maciejewski in that he 
wanted to see the sign made smaller between the message board and the upper 
section.  Mr. Schneider stated that at the last meeting Lake Federal Bank showed up 
with an emblem of the bank that was not even eight square feet and at this meeting the 
bank comes before the Board with a sign that’s way over the 30 square feet. 
 
 (General discussion ensued.) 
 

Mr. Skrabala stated that when the sign ordinance was first reviewed, the bank 
originally thought 100 square feet was allowable  and not the 50 that the bank is limited 
to.  The Board pointed out that the bank is limited to 30 square feet.  He stated that the 
reason the bank came back with more square footage is because St. Anthony withdrew 
their request as it was problematic for the bank. 
 
 (General discussion ensued.) 
 

Mr. Schneider pointed out that the bank is asking the Board to consider at least 
48 square feet and no where near 30 square feet.  Mr. Maciejewski stated that the 
Petitioner has made no attempt to reduce the size of the signage. 
 
 (General discussion ensued.) 
 

Mr. Yurko inquired of the Board if the Petitioner kept the LED sign the size at 24 
square feet would the Board approve for the Petitioner a sign with that size reader 
board and six square feet for the other copy.  
 
 (General discussion ensued.) 
 

Mr. Maciejewski stated, in his opinion, no.  He stated he would sooner see the 
Petitioner have the top part and not the bottom part.  Mr. Schneider stated the 
Petitioner could look at making the message center smaller than what it is.  He stated 
the problem he sees is when the message center is the same size as the sign there’s a 
problem.  He stated he is not a fan of message centers. 
 



 ST. JOHN BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS - JUNE 25, 2008 

 ST. JOHN MUNICIPAL BUILDING 

 10955 WEST 93
RD
 AVENUE 

 

 

 8 

 (General discussion ensued.) 
 

Mr. Schneider stated the Petitioner should attempt to down size their sign into 
the 30 square feet allowable size.  Mr. Wachowski stated he did not oppose the 
message center but would like to see it smaller.  Mr. Maciejewski stated that he 
believed the sign should be made smaller and the message center eliminated.      
 
 (General discussion ensued.) 
 

Mr. Maciejewski stated the Board had no concern over the building signage or 
the directionals.  He stated the remaining two directional signs that the Board proposed 
for Lot 9 would have to be as a part of the development of Lot 9.  He stated unless 
there was a need to exceed two directional signs on Lot 9 then it should not be an issue 
as long as the signs conformed with the Town’s code. 
 
 (General discussion ensued.) 
 

Joe Wachowski made a motion to accept Lake Federal Bank’s building signage 
and the directional signage.  He also included in the motion a recommendation that the 
Petitioner down size the monument sign, with a reader board included, so that it falls 
within the 30 square foot ordinance.  He also included in his motion that the reader 
board contain no flashing/scrolling format.  Mr. Wachowski also incorporated the 
findings of fact into the record. Mr. Monix seconded the motion.   

Mr. Maciejewski requested for a roll call vote.  A roll call vote was taken.  Joe 
Wachowski - yes.  Jim Maciejewski - no.  Peter Monix - yes.  Ken Schneider - no.  The 
motion was denied (2/2). 

Mr. Schneider made a motion that this matter be deferred to the next meeting so 
that the Petitioner have the opportunity to come back with a sign that is reduced in size 
and without the LED sign.   Mr. Yurko stated that the Petitioner was hoping for 
resolution on the signage at this meeting.  He stated that the LED portion of the sign is 
a vital component of the overall signage packet.   

Mr. Maciejewski stated he could not support the LED sign the way it was 
presented.  He stated he has voted against them for other businesses.  He stated he 
does not think LED signs are a necessity for the operation of this business.  He stated 
he does not feel it is a requirement for Lake Federal Bank.  Mr. Schneider concurred. 
 
 (General discussion ensued.) 
 

Attorney Kuiper stated that there was a policy decision made by the Town 
Council to enact a sign ordinance that prohibits the use of LED boards within the Town 
of St. John.  He stated when you drive through the community of St. John, you will find 



 ST. JOHN BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS - JUNE 25, 2008 

 ST. JOHN MUNICIPAL BUILDING 

 10955 WEST 93
RD
 AVENUE 

 

 

 9 

very few of them, most of which were grandfathered in.  Attorney Kuiper stated that this 
was a policy consideration arrived upon by the Town Council.  He stated that the Board 
has to consider three factors when determining whether or not variance of this type is 
granted or not. 
 
 (General discussion ensued.) 
 

Mr. Maciejewski stated there was a standing motion.  Mr. Schneider recalled his 
motion.  The motion was withdrawn.  Attorney Kuiper stated that action should be taken 
to defer this matter to the next meeting.  Mr. Maciejewski stated that the Lake Federal 
Bank matter would be deferred until the next Board of Zoning Appeals meeting on July 
23, 2008. 
  
 
B. PETER GEOHEGAN - 8585 MONFORT DRIVE - DEVELOPMENTAL 

TECHNICAL VARIANCE FOR OVERSIZED SHED 
 

Mr. Maciejewski stated that this item was placed on the agenda in error.  He 
inquired of the Board if there was any objection to striking this matter from the agenda.  
There was no objection.  Item B was stricken from the agenda. 
 
OLD BUSINESS: 

 

A. HANDS ON PREMIUM CAR WASH - 8445 WICKER AVENUE  
DEVELOPMENTAL TECHNICAL VARIANCE - ORDINANCE 
1271 - SECTION F- PARAGRAPH 2 - ELECTRONIC READER 
BOARDS (DEFERRED FROM MAY 28, 2008) 

 
A representative of Portable Signs, appeared before the Board for Petitioner, 

Hands On Premium Car Wash, seeking a Developmental Technical Variance, 
Ordinance 1271, Section F, Paragraph 2.  He also cited SBA studies stating the LED 
signs are proven to boost revenue for businesses.   He stated that it is difficult for a 
business to survive when they have competition all around them with the LED signage.   

The representative from Portable Sign stated that if the LED sign is not abused 
with flashing/scrolling or messages that are difficult to read then they can be put to good 
use.  He stated he was in a meeting in Merrillville where concerns were expressed about 
LED signs.  He stated at this meeting he put a question to the Town Council about how 
many complaints they have had from town people regarding LED signs.  He stated that 
the Town Council stated they had only fielded one complaint and that was from one 
business about its competitor who also had an LED sign.   



 ST. JOHN BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS - JUNE 25, 2008 

 ST. JOHN MUNICIPAL BUILDING 

 10955 WEST 93
RD
 AVENUE 

 

 

 10 

The Portable Sign representative said that if the LED signs are done tastefully 
they can be an asset to a business.  He stated LED signs are the future of signs.  He 
stated that once Towns are educated on the LED signs they will understand the 
importance of them.   

The Portable Sign representative, remarked that the size of a sign is important in 
that if you’re going to spend money on a sign to communicate with the public it must be 
big enough for the public to read.  He stated it really comes down to the business owner 
and how they operate their LED sign and how they communicate with the potential 
customer.   He stated that personally he cannot see why a town would not want the LED 
signs because it not only helps the residents but it helps the Town with tax dollars. 

Petitioners, Doug and Ed Miller appeared before the Board with additional 
comments.  Doug Miller stated Hands On Car Wash is a family business.  He stated he 
has been working with the Steve Kil for the past 30 months.  Doug Miller stated that they 
have complied with all of the Town’s ordinances for its building.  He stated they wanted 
to make Hands On Premium Car Wash one of the most attractive businesses in St. 
John.  Doug Miller stated that they looked in Dyer, Schererville, Merrillville and other 
towns but chose St. John.  Doug Miller also stated that he mentioned the LED sign 
several times during the many meetings he had before he committed to the lot that the 
building sits on.    

Doug Miller stated that the sign reads 56 feet, a 7x8 sign.  He stated that he has a 
written agreement with the Carrigans that they have given up their multi-use sign for the 
Hands On Premium Car Wash.  In other words, Hands On Premium Car Wash would 
have the monument sign for the entire complex.  
 
 (General discussion ensued.) 
 

Doug Miller stated he will be running the car wash.  He stated that the 
International Car Wash Association states that 30-33 percent of an LED board runs and 
generates business for the first two years.  He stated promotion and advertising for a car 
wash is a very important ingredient in their industry.  Doug Miller stated when patrons 
get used to using a certain car wash they keep using it and that is a habit that has to be 
broken.   

Doug Miller stated an LED sign would help promote their business and may help 
draw patrons using other car washes to Hands On Premium Car Wash.  Mr. Maciejewski 
stated he would go to a car wash for a good car wash and the sign would have nothing 
to do with why he would patronize the establishment. 

Doug Miller stated that Hands On Premium Car Wash has three different 
business units: the car wash, a detailing shop with six bays, and a deli.  He stated the 
LED sign would allow them to advertise weekly, monthly or even daily.  He stated, for 
example, if business was slow one day he could go on the computer and lower his price 
which would be immediately reflected on the LED sign in an attempt to bring in more 



 ST. JOHN BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS - JUNE 25, 2008 

 ST. JOHN MUNICIPAL BUILDING 

 10955 WEST 93
RD
 AVENUE 

 

 

 11 

revenue.   
He stated that the business is also run off of promotions.  For example, Father’s 

Day, Mother’s Day, Senior Citizens Day.  He stated the LED sign could be changed 
every single day, just for the car wash alone.  Doug Miller stated they could advertise for 
fund raisers and even advertise for hiring help.  He stated that Hands On Premium Car 
Wash has worked with Lake Central High School where fund-raisers have been set up 
and the car wash will share profits with them.  He stated an LED sign is the best way to 
promote these messages and get them out into the community.  He stated that the LED 
sign is crucial to their business.   

Doug Miller stated that Hands On Premium Car Wash is located on Route 41.  He 
stated 50 square feet is a postage stamp on Route 41.   He stated they have attempted 
to down size their sign to the bare minimum.  He stated the easement places Hands On 
Premium Car Wash 60 feet off of Route 41, which is another reason they have proposed 
a 56 square foot LED sign.  

Doug Miller also stated the detail unit of the business will include six detail bays.  
He stated that the detail business would be another service that could be advertised on 
the LED sign.  He stated Hands On Premium Car Wash can detail motorcycles, boats, 
limousines and fleet washes.  He stated no other car wash in the area provides these 
services and the best way to let potential customers know about them is to advertise 
these services on the LED sign.    

Doug Miller stated the Petitioner has spent over $2 million dollars on the building. 
 He stated they paid $25,000.00 for the LED sign to advertise their multi-use business.  
He stated if he did not need the LED sign he would have happily cut it from his budget.  
He again stated the sign is crucial for the business.  Doug Miller stated that the LED 
sign’s usage would be dedicated for the car wash portion of the business, which would 
probably account fo 60-70% of its revenue.  He stated the detail shop would probably 
account for 20% of the revenue, the deli would account for maybe 10%.  Jim 
Maciejewski asked the Petitioners why they chose not to include the deli into the hard 
text of the sign.     

Doug Miller stated not being allowed an LED sign would completely cripple the 
business and possibly put them out of business within a few years.  Ed Miller submitted 
recent pictures of the business to the Board.   
 
 (General discussion ensued.) 
 

Ed Miller stated he will run the deli.  He stated there will be pastas, salads and 
sandwiches.  He stated without the LED sign he will not be able to advertise his daily 
menu.  He stated without the LED sign he would not be able to advertise what kind of 
fund-raising might be going on.  He stated that they expect Lake Central High School to 
be a major portion of their business, and it would be feasible to be able to advertise food 
specials for this reason alone.    He stated that an extra $30,000.00 was spent to put a 



 ST. JOHN BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS - JUNE 25, 2008 

 ST. JOHN MUNICIPAL BUILDING 

 10955 WEST 93
RD
 AVENUE 

 

 

 12 

drive-thru in for the deli portion of the car wash.  He stated that the LED sign is an 
integral need for the operation of their business in order to be able to advertise all of 
their various services. 

Joe Wachowski asked the Millers if the agreement that they had with the other 
owner of the lots was in writing.  Doug Miller stated that there is a written agreement.   
 
 (General discussion ensued.) 

Doug Miller stated that there are so many things the business could do with the 
LED board to function he hoped the Board would realize the importance of it.  Ed Miller 
stated when Mr. Kil went for a walk-through of the business even he stated that the 
Petitioners should have the LED board so that they could alert potential customers of 
what Hands On Premium Car Wash has to offer. 

Mr. Maciejewski asked how many lots were in this subdivision.  Doug Miller 
informed him there were four lots but two of them are land locked.   
 
 (General discussion ensued.) 
 

Mr. Maciejewski opened the floor to public comment.  He asked that anyone 
wishing to make a comment relative to the petition come forward. 
 
 PUBLIC HEARING 
 
Joe Mashashi, 12608 West 101

st
 Avenue - Mr. Mashashi stated he has been a resident 

of St. John for nine years.  He stated, as a citizen of St. John, he is very happy and 
appreciative of the fact that the two Petitioners on tonight’s agenda chose St. John to 
build their businesses.   He stated he is not averse for a business of this magnitude to 
come into St. John since it may even help stabilize his taxes.   

He stated that Hands On Premium Car Wash is not your average business.  He 
stated it is the most beautiful business in St. John from a commercial standpoint.  He 
stated that the Petitioners have spent a large amount of money and followed all of the 
Town’s rules and he wanted the Board to note this.   

Mr. Mashashi stated that fact that Hands On Premium Car Wash is willing to 
partner with the school and athletic organizations and become civic minded and 
community oriented speaks volumes for the Petitioners.  He stated it should be 
appreciated and not go unnoticed.  He stated the business would create jobs for the kids 
in Town.   

Mr. Mashashi stated his wife works at Lake Central High School.  He stated that 
the Millers have contacted the school and arranged to bring lunch in for the teachers and 
the counselors at Lake Central.  He stated he was able to sample the food the 
Petitioners brought over to the school and it is very good food.  Mr. Mashashi stated the 
Town could use some additional quality eating establishments. 



 ST. JOHN BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS - JUNE 25, 2008 

 ST. JOHN MUNICIPAL BUILDING 

 10955 WEST 93
RD
 AVENUE 

 

 

 13 

Mr. Mashashi stated that there is a word called progress.  He stated that the use 
of LED signs represents progress. 

Mr. Mashashi remarked that he would like the Board to consider the need and 
necessity for an LED sign for a business such as Hands On Premium Car wash.  He 
stated he hoped the Board would consider the need for the sign even if solely based 
upon what Hands On Premium Car Was has accomplished thus far. 

Mr. Maciejewski called for additional public comment.  There was no further public 
comment.  Mr. Maciejewski closed the public hearing and brought the matter back 
before the Board. 

Mr.  Maciejewski stated he did not consider an LED sign progress; he stated he 
considered LED signs visual noise.  He stated he envisions one of these signs every one 
hundred feet down Route 41. 
Mr. Mashashi asked Mr. Maciejewski what makes him think he is God and jury.  Attorney 
Kuiper reminded Mr. Mashashi that the public hearing was over.  Attorney Kuiper stated 
the policy of the Town of St. John is not to permit reader message and reader boards.  
Attorney Kuiper further informed Mr. Mashashi that if he had an issue with the appointed 
Board members, that he could take it up with the elected officials of the Town of St. 
John.  Attorney Kuiper stated that the Board is charged, by statute, to uphold the law.  
He stated the Board has to base their decision on three factors under Indiana law. 
 
 (General discussion ensued.) 
 

Mr. Maciejewski asked for a motion for or against the petition.  Joe Wachowski 
made a motion to accept the signage as presented to the Board with the stipulation that 
the written agreement from Mr. Carrington be included and that the reader board does 
not flash or scroll and with 10 second messages.  Mr. Monix seconded Mr. Wachowski’s 
motion to accept the signage with the stipulations. 

Mr. Maciejewski called for a roll call vote.  Jim Maciejewski - no.  Joe Wachowski - 
yes.  Peter Monix - yes.  Ken Schneider - no.  The motion was denied (2/2).  Attorney 
Kuiper stated there was no action at this point because there was no majority vote.  He 
stated the Board could make a motion to continue this matter until there was full board 
with five members present. 

Mr. Maciejewski asked if any board member would like to take any further action 
on this matter.  No action was taken.  Mr. Maciejewski deferred this matter to the July 
23, 2008, board meeting.   

  
ANY AND ALL: 

 

There was no business under Any and All. 
 



 ST. JOHN BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS - JUNE 25, 2008 

 ST. JOHN MUNICIPAL BUILDING 

 10955 WEST 93
RD
 AVENUE 

 

 

 14 

 

ADJOURNMENT: 

 

Ken Schneider made a motion to adjourn; Joe Wachowski seconded the motion.  
The motion was unanimously carried by voice vote (4/0). 
 
 
 (The meeting was adjourned at 8:35 p.m.) 
 
A TRUE COPY 

 

__________________________________________ 
SUSAN E. WRIGHT, RECORDING SECRETARY 
ST. JOHN BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS 



 ST. JOHN BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS - JUNE 25, 2008 

 ST. JOHN MUNICIPAL BUILDING 

 10955 WEST 93
RD
 AVENUE 

 

 

 15 

 


